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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

KYLE APPLEBY,
Plaintiff,
V.
CaseNo.17-2101-DDC-GEB
BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISSIONERS OF
DOUGLAS COUNTY, KANSAS,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Kyle Appleby brihgs this lawsuit againgiefendant Board of County
Commissioners of Douglas County, Kansas, rtisgethat defendardemoted him from his
position with the Douglas County Sheriff’'s Offibased on sex discrimination and as retaliation
for sustaining a worker’'s compensation injuBlaintiff asserts hisex discrimination claim
under Title VII of the Civil Righs Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 88 200@#,seq And he asserts his
retaliation claim under the Kaas common law prohibiting rdtation based on worker’s
compensation injuries because it violates public policy.

Defendant has filed a Motion for Summalydgment, seeking summary judgment
against both of plaintiff's claims. Doc. 58. aRitiff has submitted an Opposition to defendant’s
motion. Doc. 68. And defendant has filed a Refdoc. 73. The matter thus is fully briefed,
and after considering the partiesguments, the court is prepatedule. For reasons explained

below, the court grants defendant’s summary foeligt motion in part andenies it in part.
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l. Uncontroverted Facts

The following facts are either stipulated fatztken from the Pretrial Order (Doc. 55), or
are uncontroverted and statedhe light most favorable to plaiff as the non-moving party.
Scott v. Harris 550 U.S. 372, 379 (2007).

Plaintiff works for the Douglas County Sifés Office (‘DCSQ”) as a Corrections
Officer Ill. He is assigned tthe Douglas County Corrections Hagi Plaintiff is male, and he
holds himself out as gay.

Plaintiff testified that he coisently has met or exceededpextations in his Corrections
Officer performance evaluation$n 2017, plaintiff wa commended by his DCSO supervisor for
his quick action to subdue an inmate.

Plaintiff's Interactions with Sergeant Moffitt

When plaintiff began his employment witthe DCSO in 2006, Sergeant Moffitt was a
Corrections Officer. Plaintiff worked on the same shift as Sergeant Moffitt. Plaintiff testified
that throughout his career with the DCSOrgeant Moffitt treated him horribly. He bullied
plaintiff and made mean comments to him. Rifiialways had problems with Sergeant Moffitt.

In 2012, Sergeant Moffitt subjected plaintiff to offensive comments about his masculinity
several times. Sergeant Moffitt referred to piffiats “fag.” He also repeatedly said that
plaintiff had “drag queen eyebrows.”

Another DCSO employee, Master Deputy Datdolthaus, testified that she heard
Sergeant Moffitt make negative comments abouerhamosexuality on many occasions while
he was assigned to the Corrections Divisidaster Deputy Holthaus kmvs of at least two

openly gay lesbians who the DCSO employgaster Deputy Holthaus never heard Sergeant



Moffitt make negative comments to either of tlwo lesbians about their sexuality. Plaintiff
complained to Master Deputy Holthaus ab8atgeant Moffitt's treatent of him.

Sergeant Moffitt never was plaintiff’'s direct supervisor during his employment with the
DCSO. Yet, plaintiff testified that he had nooice but to follow Sergeant Moffitt's directions
because he held the rank of Sergeant.

Plaintiff testified that he never confronted Sergeant Moffitt about his offensive
comments. Plaintiff also never reported Sergdéoffitt’'s conduct to anyonén the DCSO or by
using the mechanism in the Douglas County personnel policy.

DCSO'’s Process for Deputy Promotion

When the DCSO has an opening availabteaf®eputy position, it will announce that
opening and accept applications from individsadeking the position. The DCSO also requires
applicants to take a written test and achieveoaesaf 70% or better on ela section of the test.

If an applicant passes the written test, hegedls to the interview stage. With internal
candidates, the DCSO establishes a promotions board. The promotions board interviews each
applicant, and the board members rank théiegus. The promotions board then makes a

forced rankingi.e., ranking the applicants collecsily from best to worst.

Sheriff Kenneth McGovern is the duly eled Sheriff of Douglas County, Kansas. He
has held this position at all times relevant to liwgsuit. Sheriff McGovern has determined that
the Lawrence Police Department Basic Rechgidemy (“Academy”) is the best available
academy for potential Deputies to receive andpete the law enforcement officer training

necessary to comply with state lageeKan. Stat. Ann. 88§ 74-560&t seq(Kansas Law

! By Affidavit, plaintiff asserts that the DCS@w requires a 70% pass rate on the total exam
instead of a 70% pass rate on each section of the test. Defendant responds that plaintiff's assertion is
inaccurate. This dispute is immaterial becausatitbconcedes that the 70% pass rate on each section
was the standard applied when he sought promotion to the Deputy position.
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Enforcement Training Act). For this reastile DCSO uses thecademy for its potential
Deputies to receive the requirtaw enforcement training.

The Academy only admits officers rankedeputies. Because of the Academy’s
requirement, the DCSO appoints successful appgidarthe rank of Deputy but conditions the
promotion on successfully opleting the Academy.

Plaintiff Applies for a Promotion to Deputy

On September 13, 2013, the DCSO announcedtthals seeking applications for an
available Deputy position. Plaintiff then wasmoyed by DCSO as a Corrections Officer. He
applied for the open Deputy position. Six candigaitecluding plaintiff took the written test on
October 22 and 24, 2013. Plaintiffidiot score 70% or higher on each section of the test. So he
was not eligible to advance in thepdipation process for that opening.

On August 1, 2014, the DCSO announeedther opening for a Deputy position.

Plaintiff (who still was working as a Correctio@ficer) applied for te position. On August 26
and 28, 2014, six candidates, includpigintiff, took the written testPlaintiff scored a 70% or
higher on each section of the test, making him eligibledvance in the application process.

The DCSO eventually selected plainfidf the promotion, along with Corrections
Officers Haney and Weinmaster. On May 23, 2015, the DCSO promoted plaintiff to the rank of
Deputy. Plaintiff understood that the Academguieed him to hold the rank of Deputy before it
would permit him to participate in its lawfencement training progm. Plaintiff also
understood that his promotion svaontingent upon completing the Academy. But, in the

meantime, plaintiff received the prommtiand a corresponding pay increase.



Plaintiff's Performance at the Academy

On June 1, 2015, plaintiff began the Aeaty. The Academy had a structured
curriculum that was expected to run about Zeks. The Academy’s scheduled end date was
November 13, 2015. The last week of the Acaglentalled officer survival week, sometimes
referred to as hell week.

On July 22, 2015, plaintiff sustained a bagkiim during defensivéactics training. He
went to the County’s healthcare providemmpt Care, Lawrence Ogpational Services, and
received medical treatment for his injury. A phyeicprescribed plaintifight duty restrictions
for one week, including no physical trainingdano lifting more than five pounds. Plaintiff
missed the Academy'’s afternoon classes on JulyB2@.he returned to the Academy the next
day.

Sergeant Robert Murry with the Lawrerfeelice Department told DCSO Captain
Buchholz and Undersheriff Martin abt plaintiff's back injury on the day it happened. On July
26, 2015, plaintiff returned to Prompt Care, &edasked the physician neodify his medical
restrictions to accommodate liiaining at the Academy. Buistead, the physician increased
his restrictions to include noinning and no lifting more than 2®unds. From July 26 to July
30, plaintiff was subject to thedight duty restrictions.

During the Academy, recruits took writtendaphysical tests. Also, the Academy’s
instructors placed recruits into various read-kicenarios. Instructors graded the recruits’
performance during the scenarios either as a pass or fail. Defendant has submitted grading sheets
showing the various scenarios where instructove géaintiff a failing grade. Doc. 60-17 at 1—

20.



Captain William Cory is employed by the Lawrence Police Department, and he has
served as an instructor at the Academy. &lapgEfory was present for three days of officer
survival week when plaintiff attended the AcagenCaptain Cory observed that plaintiff lacked
a requisite level of physical fitse. He saw that plaiiff was struggling on the very first run,
and “it didn’t get better from there.” Doc. G0at 4 (Cory Dep. 13:5-13). Captain Cory also
watched plaintiff perform a scenaithat involved recniis removing a subject from a restroom at
a bar. Plaintiff was the secondary unit—or baok—assigned to the scenario. Captain Cory
saw that plaintiff was not engangj, meaning that he was not gegtiinto the bathroom to assist
his fellow recruits. Accordingly to Captain 6o plaintiff did not denonstrate the skills
necessary to take control of the situation pressehy the scenario. Captain Cory testified that
plaintiff's performance caused him to fear thatipliff was a danger to himself, other officers,
and the general public.

Captain Cory wrote an Offer's Special Report, documenting his observations of
plaintiff's performance at the@ademy. Doc. 60-16 at 1-2. HReport opines that plaintiff was
not functioning at the level requiredwmrk as an effective and safe Deputgl. Before he
wrote the Officer’s Special Report, Captain Cdi not know that plaintiff had injured his back
during an earlier training at tiecademy. Also, Captain Cory did nkbow that plaintiff is gay.
Captain Cory always instructed trainerstet Academy to take good notes during officer
survival week. And, if a recruit was having tréeilwith the training, Captain Cory instructed
trainers to write a summary. Hg@ave these instructions ati@ny recruit—not specifically
plaintiff.

Officer Josh Guile is employed by theviu@nce Police Department. In 2015, Officer

Guile was an Academy instructor, teaching ekhstops. Officer Guile observed several



scenarios where, he believed, plaintiff failegpwform properly. The ffst scenario involved a
vehicle stop with drugs in the caAccording to Officer Guileplaintiff saw the drugs but didn’t
take any action. Plaintiff twice walked awfgm the vehicle, allwing the occupant role
players to hide the drugs. Plaintiff appeditadtered, but he did not take any action until the
backup unit arrived. Ultimately, @intiff arrested the role players for possessing drugs, but he
never collected the drugs as evidence. Plainstifted about this scenar He explained that
he saw the drugs, but did nokésany action because he thoubbtshould wait for back up to
arrive. Plaintiff thought the Academy was ag# to “mess up” and “make the wrong choice”
but “[t{]he whole point is to learn.” Do69-2 at 28 (Appleby Dep. 107:5-108:4).

In another scenario that Officer Guile observed, plaintiff was the primary officer
responding to a vehicle stop. (Tjkemary officer is the one takirthe lead in the scenario.)
The role players drove away quickly to execute a driver’s switch. Plaintiff didn’t see the driver
switch. When the car stopped, plaintiff drew hisdirm and ordered the drivier step out of the
vehicle. The driver did so with his hands bpt plaintiff never followe up. Instead, plaintiff
holstered his gun and stood né&xthe driver, not knowing wather the driver was armed.
Plaintiff never patted down the driver. Aldw never placed him in handcuffs. Officer Guile
described plaintiff’'s actions+e., failing to determine whether andividual involved in a car
chase was carrying a weapon—as unsafe. Officde @wught plaintiff ould have been hurt or
killed.

Officer Guile observed another scenaricendplaintiff was the backing officer€., the
officer providing back-up to the primary officerJ.he primary officer was trying to arrest the
role player on a warrant. But the two officeid not have control ahe person, and a fight

ensued. According to Offic&uile, plaintiff didn’t use the per defensive tactics to gain



control. Plaintiff also didn't show a senseunfiency compared to the other recruit performing
the scenario.

In another scenario, Officer Guile obsengddintiff playing the role as the primary
officer on a vehicle stop. The role player @nexited the car and immiately began shooting a
weapon. According to Officer @a, plaintiff did not get out ohis vehicle quickly and didn’t
draw his firearm quickly. Wheplaintiff finally drew his frearm, the suspect already had
emptied his weapon. Officer Guilestified that, in a real-worlgituation, tle suspect would
have shot plaintiff multiple times. Plaintiff testified that he does not recall Officer Guile
discussing his criticisms of plaintiff’performance with him.

Officer Guile testified thahe would not have recommeed plaintiff complete the
Academy or move on to Deputy status. Officeil&did not know that @intiff had injured his
back during a training at the Academy. But heasal that plaintiff appeared to be in pain
during one of the scenarios.

Officer Kevin Henderson is employed by thewrence Police Department. He was an
instructor at the Academy when plaintiff attedde Officer Henderson taught car stops, and he
personally observed plaintiff's performance ines@l scenarios. He authored an Officer’s
Special Report, criticizing plaintiff’'s performea at the Academy and opining that plaintiff's
deficient skills presented a damge himself, other officers,ral the public. Doc. 60-19.

In one scenario, Officer Henderson obserpkintiff perform a vehicle stop where the
occupant had an outstanding warrawhile stopping the vehicle,ahtiff used the patrol car’s
public address system instead of the radio mitome to report the stopt also took plaintiff

several approaches taetstopped vehicle to gatheecessary information+e., plaintiff returned



to his patrol car several timasthout required information, thus requiring him to return to the
stopped vehicle to get the appropriate information.

In another scenario, Officer Henderson ettt plaintiff performa vehicle stop where
the occupants left narcotics in plain view. Bidi never saw the narcotics, and the occupant
eventually threw them out of the vehiclgarlier in the Academy, plaintiff had received
classroom training about this scenario. Eeeived that training before performing the real-
world scenario.

Officer Henderson observed piéiff perform another scenarinvolving a vehicle with
several occupants leaving a bar. Plaintiff wWeaesbacking officer in this scenario. Officer
Henderson watched plaintiff stand at the bacthefvehicle without doing anything to assist the
other recruits with the stop. When plaintiff atfgted to handcuff one of the vehicle’s occupants,
he used the wrong technique. Rtdf's poor handcuffing led the occupant role player to start a
fight. The instructors had toldle players not to fight theecruits if they used proper
handcuffing techniques. Accong to Officer Henderson, instrtors try to give as much
feedback to all recruits—inatling plaintiff—about how theperformed so that they can
improve.

In another scenario, Officer Henderson obedrplaintiff performa vehicle stop where
he failed to call in the stop onshiadio. Officer Henderson expiaid that not calling in a car
stop is dangerous. Plaintiff also failed to separate the occupants of the vehicle when he was
asking them for information. Officer Henderson explained that separation is important in a
criminal investigation because people geledon’t talk when they are around others.

Officer Henderson watched plaintiff perform another sderiavolving a car stop where

the occupant had an outstanding warrant. Ontgfsrfirst approach to th vehicle, he failed to



get the passenger’s identificatioBo, plaintiff had to return to the vehicle to get that
information. But then, the occupant got outh# vehicle and ran. Plaintiff pursued him and
tried to use his baton, but Officer Hendersaiified that plaintiffs baton strikes were
ineffective because he was not using enough fordaother recruit joied plaintiff and took
down the subject. The other recruit then had to ptgtaintiff about the actiws he should take.

Over the various weeks that Officer Hersten conducted the vehicle stop training, he
never saw any improvement in plaintiff srfmmance. Officer Henderson saw plaintiff
continue to make the same mistakes. Anddneer saw plaintiff begin to grasp the tasks
involved in a vehicle stop wecognize the dangers associatétth them. Officer Henderson
testified that he would not have felt conttdyle with plaintiff serving as a Deputy.

Officer Henderson testified that Captain Casked him to write a report about plaintiff’s
performance in the Academy. He did not askd®r Henderson to write reports about any other
recruits. But no one ever encouraged €affiHenderson to write a negative report about
plaintiff. Officer Henderson didot know that plaintiff had injed his back during training at
the Academy. Officer Hendersonaenheard someone discuss pldiistisexual orientation but it
was not derogatory and not of concern to Officer Henderson.

Officer Chris Wech is employed by the LawcerPolice Department. In 2015, he served
as an instructor at the Academy, teaching variecsniques. They included defensive tactics,
physical conflict resolution, verbal skills, anetimechanics of arrest and handcuffing. During
the Academy, Officer Wech provided classroonmiregg to recruits. Aftevards, the recruits

would apply that classrootraining to scenarios.

2 Plaintiff tried to controvert this statementfa€t by asserting that the recruits used batons made

of foam in their training. This fact does not aowert Officer Henderson’s testimony that he observed
plaintiff’'s use of the baton in training as lacking the requisite force.
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Officer Wech observed pldiff perform many scenarios duag his training at the
Academy. In one scenario, Officer Wech gaaintiff have difficdty controlling his body
weight up and down and pushing himself oftled ground. Plaintiff wold put his head down
and use his weapon hand to push himself off toargt. He also used his body weight to control
a role playing suspect which, Officer Wech expdal, could cause injuryin another scenario,
Officer Wech observed that ptiff was physically unable toontrol a role phyer. Instead,
plaintiff resorted to laying otop of the role player usingis body weight to control the
individual.

Officer Wech also observed plaintiff perfn another scenariavolving a burglary.

Plaintiff attempted to handcuff the role plageispect, but he was physically unable to control
the suspect’s hands behind his back. Plaititéh attempted to handcuff the suspect using a
technique not taught at the Academy. Evaliianother recruitssisted plaintiff in
handcuffing the suspect. After each scenariduting this one, instructors provide a short
debrief to recruits. In the dabf, the instructors tell the recruits their concerns about the
recruits’ performance and advise thenthd# things they need to correct.

In another scenario involvirg civil dispute, Officer Wecbbserved plaintiff performing
well. Officer Wech met with plaintiff and toldrh that he had done well in this scenario. But he
also told plaintiff that he had concerns abogtdhility to handle othescenarios that, unlike the
civil dispute, involve physicalantrol. Officer Wech told platiff that he had concerns about
plaintiff's ability to protect himslf and protect others in the coranity. Plaintiff testified that

he does not recall Officer Wech having conveoset with him about his performance.
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Overall, Officer Wech had concerns abowipliff's ability to deal with physical and
stressful situations. Although plaintiff performeell in scenarios involvig low stress, plaintiff
had trouble when the scenarimvolved higher stressid required physical contact.

No one ever encouraged Officer Wech to st plaintiff for negative performance.
During officer survival week, Officer Wech helped run the arrest scenarios and evaluated the
recruits’ performance in those scenarios. MdgDfficer Wech’s observations of plaintiff's
performance happened during officer surviwakek. During his observations, Officer Wech
does not recall any of the other recruitsihg performance issues like plaintiff had
demonstrated.

No one at the DCSO told Officer Wech toitera negative report about plaintiff so that
he would not succeed in completing his tnaghat the Academy. Also, no one told Officer
Wech to write a negative report about plaintéchuse of his sexuality or his back injury.
Officer Wech knew that plaintiff had injuredshback because he was permitted to sit out of
some of the training. But Officer Wech did mkkoiow anything specific about that injury. And
Officer Wech never heard anyone talk about plfiitsexuality during the Academy.

Deputy Phillip Weinmaster is employed by the DCSO. He attended the Academy as a
recruit with plaintiff in 2015. During the @&ademy, Deputy Weinmastebserved plaintiff's
performance during a number of scenarios wheseneed as either a primary or backing officer.
Deputy Weinmaster occasionafgw plaintiff struggle physicallio complete tasks in the
scenarios, including training runs. Deputy Weinmagtcalls that all recruits received constant
classroom training and verbal counseling fromrirbrs about each task or scenario. So, he

does not believe that instructors singled oaintiff. Deputy Weinmater also recalls the
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instructors yelling at all of the recruits, particljaduring officer survival week, to simulate real
life stress.

Sergeant Moffitt worked as an instructottad Academy during officer survival week.
Plaintiff asserts that Sergeant fith singled him out and treatddm differently than he treated
other recruits at the Academy. Sergeant Moffitiaized plaintiff more frequently and more
severely than he did other recruitalso, he frequentlyold plaintiff to quit. One time, Sergeant
Moffitt drove alongside plaintiff as he was rungj and he began shouting “give up, give up.”
Plaintiff testified that Sergeant Moffitt pulled hdar in front of plaintiff, opened the door, and
told him to get in because plaintiff was done.

Plaintiff asserts that he was Sergeant Moffitihly focus during officer survival week.
But Deputy Weinmaster recalls that Sergeant Kadfso yelled at him and other recruits during
officer survival week, encouraging them to dguiRlaintiff never complained to Deputy
Weinmaster about the way Sergeant Moffitt waating him. Deputy Weinmaster recalls just
one complaint that plaintiff madeplaintiff reported that Captain Paul Fellers of the Lawrence
Police Department told him around the ten-weelkk of the Academy that he would fire
plaintiff if he was employed bihe Lawrence Police Department.

Captain Fellers worked for the Lawrence Police Department until his retirement in March
2016. In 2015, Captain Fellers was respondili@verseeing the Community Services’
Division which included the traing unit and the Academy. Asmpaf his oversight of the
Academy, Captain Fellers did not attend the Acag every day. But, if a recruit was having
problems during the Academy, instructors wouliehdpthe issue to Captaiellers’s attention,

and he would handle it.

3 Officer Guile testified that he never saw any instructors yell at recruits to quit. He conceded that

instructors yell at recruits but desa@ibit as yelling for encouragement.
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In August 2015, Captain Fellers met with pléf to discuss his performance at the
Academy. Captain Fellers had received feekleom instructors tht plaintiff was not
performing at the level he shaube performing at the Acadensyten-week mark. The purpose
of his meeting with plaintiff was to make certain that he was committed to the Academy’s
learning process and to place him on notice of Higsidat performance. Rintiff testified that
Captain Fellers advised him in this meeting—tfa first time—that he might not complete the
Academy. Plaintiff does not know of any othecruits who had similar conversations about
their training with Captain Fellers.

After the August meeting, Captain Fellers toned to receive fatback that plaintiff
was not performing well in the Academy. Instrustogported to Captairellers that plaintiff
had performed poorly in thenflict type-scenaos, plaintiff was not making appropriate
decisions, and some questioned whether pifagitould move forward in the Academy.

On November 6, 2015, Captain Fellers met \itintiff again. By this time, based on
the information reported to Captain Felleb®at plaintiff's perfomance at the Academy,
Captain Fellers had formed the opinion thatbeld not recommend plaiff to move forward
in the Academy. Captain Fellers recalled omreof a scenario where plaintiff was on his
back and not doing anything to protect hesapon. So, when meeting with plaintiff on
November 6, 2015, Captain Fellers informed gifiithat he could notecommend him to move
on in the Academy.

No one at the DCSO ever contacted Captalleseabout wanting plaintiff to fail out of
the Academy because of his back injury or segudahtation. Captain Hers testified that his

recommendation about plaintiff was based lgad@ his poor performance at the Academy.
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Before his first meeting with plaintiff, Cagith Fellers did not know about plaintiff's sexual
orientation. Also, he didnttare personally about piff's sexual orientation.

Plaintiff disagrees that he ffermed poorly at the Academyrlaintiff conceded that he
had some problems at the beginning of firearnmiingi, but he contends that he corrected those
issues. In July 2015, plaintisicored a 94% on a weapon quahtion test. And in August 2015,
he scored an 82% on a weapon digation test. Alsoplaintiff testified about another scenario
where instructors determined thmith he and another recruit hiadled to take control of the
situation. But, plaintiff asserts, no orm®k his gun from him during this scenario.

Plaintiff asserts that he waslllied and singled out at tecademy for making mistakes.
When other recruits made similar mistakes rirgbrs did not acknowledge them. Plaintiff also
testified that he was subject to remarks abaihtasculinity at the Academy. He was told to
“man up,” to use his “male voice,” and that he was not “what they appear to be a man [sic] in
this job.” Doc. 69-2 at 40 (Appleby Dep. 153:6-148ut the only DCSO employee who made
these remarks was Sergeant Moffitt. Plaintiff spoke to his fellow recruits Deputies Weinmaster
and Haney about his treatment at the AcadeAgcording to plaintiff, they didn’t understand
why instructors were treating plaintiff in this fashion.

Plaintiffs Removal from the Academy

Sometime before November 1, 2015, $h&tcGovern attended a professional

conference that members of the Lawrence Police Department Academy training staff attended as

well. During a break, the Academy trainingfstaformed Sheriff McGovern that they had

4 The court is not sure what plaintiff means witils testimony. But, viewing the statement in the
light most favorable to plaintiff, the court constryssintiff's testimony to mean that he was not what
they expected of a man in this job.
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concerns about plaintiff's performanteSheriff McGovern cannot recall the names of the
specific individuals who express¢hese concerns. But headls that each one expressed
concerns about plaintiff's indlty to perform the necessatgsks required of a Deputy. In
particular, the training staff mebers had concerns about ptéfis ability in the areas of
weapons management and engaging criminal suspécid each training staff member felt that
plaintiff was a danger to himselfther officers, and the public.

Through the chain of command at the Lavee®olice Department, Sheriff McGovern
asked for copies of their rexws of plaintiff. Also, Sheff McGovern and other DCSO
personnel spoke with various instructors who tnashed plaintiff at the Academy. Based on the
information Sheriff McGovern received, he malde decision that plaiifif should not complete
the Academy. Instead, Sheriff McGovern deditie return plaintiff to his position as a
Corrections Officer.

On November 10, 2015, the DCSO returneaintiff to his Corrections Officer 1lI
position with his previous rate pay. Plaintiff is the only uit in his class who was not
allowed to complete the Academy. He’s aise only DCSO employee who has attended, but

not completed, the Academy.

° Plaintiff objects to this fact as inadmissible hearsay. Defendant responds that it does not offer the

training staff's statements to prove the truth of the matter asseireegthat plaintiff performed poorly at

the Academy. Instead, defendant offers the statentestsow Sheriff McGovern’s state of mind. Thus,
defendant asserts, the statements are not hearsay. The court agrees with defendant. The statements are
admissible as an exception under the hearsay 8de.Faulkner v. Super Valu Stores, I8d-.3d 1419,

1434 (10th Cir. 1993) (holding that statements offéceshow an employer’s state of mind when making

an employment decision are generally not hearsay bedhay are not offered to prove the truth of the

matter asserted).
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Sheriff McGovern did not know plaintiff's geal orientation until he filed this lawsuit.
Also, before plaintiff filed this lawsuit, Sheriff McGovern never knew about plaintiff's
allegations that DCSO Sergeant Moffitt had made offensive comments to plaintiff and bullied
him. Thus, plaintiff's sexualitand his allegations about Sergestoffitt never factored into
Sheriff McGovern’s decision to remove plaihfrom the Academy and return him to the
Corrections Officer position. Instead, accordingtweriff McGovern, he based his decision on
safety issues and his belief that plaintiff lackied requisite skills to protect himself and others.

Before his demotion, plaintiff never had reaavany written evaluations or memos about
his performance at the Academy other thanathitten exercises he completed during training.
When plaintiff was demoted, he never had sme®fficer's Special Report documenting his
training performance. He did not see any suegiorts until months later. Several officers
testified that Captain Cory specifically directedrnhto write reports about plaintiff and that he
never gave similar directions abaurtother recruit. And Captain llegs testified that he does not
routinely compose memoranda oficér’'s special reports aboutelperformance of recruits in
the Academy.

After the DCSO removed plaintiff from thhecademy, he filed a grievance. Following
DCSO guidelines, Sheriff McGovern acted asghevance’s Hearing Officer. At the grievance
hearing, plaintiff was represented by legal couasél was given a full opportunity to grieve the
DCSO'’s decision to remove him from the Aeaty and return him to his previous position.
During the grievance hearing, plaintiff neveaiiohed that the DCSO'’s decision was based on

any of Sergeant Moffitt's conduct, plaintiff's baokury, or his sexual @entation. Instead, at

6 Plaintiff tries to controvert this fact by ¢iti his deposition testimony where he testified that he

has been openly gay at work since 2008. But this fact does not establShetititMcGovern knethat
plaintiff was openly gay at work. Thus, plaintiff's testimony does not controvert Sheriff McGovern’s
assertion that he did not know plaintiff is gay until he filed this lawsuit.
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the grievance hearing, plaintdsserted that he had perfodredequately at the Academy.
Alternatively, plaintiff asked to attend tk&ansas Law Enforcement Training Center—a law
enforcement training program similar to theadlemy. After the hearing concluded, Sheriff
McGovern sustained his earliezasion to remove plaintiff from the Academy and return him to
his Corrections Officer position.

DCSO'’s Treatment of Katie Benton

Plaintiff alleges that the DCSO treated hirssléavorably than a similarly situated female
candidate, Katie Benton. Ms. Benton is a ferrdCSO employee. She first worked as a
Corrections Officer and later Deputy. When she began her employment as a Corrections
Officer, the DCSO assigned her to work at thmuglas County Corrections Facility. There, she
became friends with plaintiff.

In December 2013, the DCSO promoted Ms. Benton to Deputy, contingent upon her
completing the Academy. When Ms. Benton attentie Academy, most of the instructors were
Lawrence Police Department employees. Butesof the other instructors were DCSO
employees. Ms. Benton testified that, duriveg 25-week attendance at the Academy, the
recruits went to class, reced/@struction on policing policiegngaged in scenario training, and
received feedback from the instructors. Msntde testified that shédbught instructors were
“extra hard” on some recruits—including hefselhnom she describes as “girly"—because
instructors wanted to make suhat the recruitare “strong enough to get through.” Doc. 60-22
at 8 (Benton Dep. 34:13-35:2). Ms. Benton recdled the instructors put the recruits under
increased stress and physical acfidtiring officer survival weekThe instructors also yelled a
lot at the recruits during thiseek. Ms. Benton eventually mpleted and graduated from the

Academy.
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Before plaintiff attended the Academy, halls&veral discussions with Ms. Benton about
what to expect, including the physical trainimgcessary, the skill testing, and the scenarios.
While he attended the Academy, Ms. Benton talikelsim constantly by telephone. Ms. Benton
recalls that plaintiff told her that he had talkedCaptain Fellers, but heever shared the content
of that conversation with her. When Ms. Bamtattended the Academy in 2014, she recalls that
one or two recruits sat out onetwo sessions because of an injury. Ms. Benton injured her
forearm, and she sat out one session because3fiét believes that another recruit also sat out a
session or two because of injury. Ultimatds. Benton’s entire class graduated from the
Academy.

Plaintiff asserts that he was afraicctumplain about how Sergeant Moffitt treated him
because, in 2010, the DCSO had threatened liimtarmination for making a complaint about
smelling marijuana on a supervisor. Ms. Bentstified that she and at least one other
Corrections Officer smelled marijuana on a sugenv They talked about it among themselves.
Eventually, an officer reported the supervisord the DCSO initiated an Internal Affairs
Investigation. Investigators imt@ewed Ms. Benson about the complaint. Before she answered
their questions, she was provideGarrity warning, explaining thahe would lose her job if she
did not tell the truth or cooperate with tineestigation. When the investigation ended,
Undersheriff Massey spoke with Ms. Benton artkod about stopping the spread of rumors and
using the chain of command ieport problems at the Dougl@®unty Correctional Facility.

When Ms. Benton worked at the Doug@sunty Correctional Faldy, she knew other
employees who were openly gay and lesbian.nifaasserts, howevethat he is the only

openly gaymaleCorrections Officer.
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DCSO'’s Treatment of LeRonda Roome

Plaintiff also asserts that the DCSO treated him less favorably than it treated a similarly
situated female employee, LeRonda Roome. Plaintiff asserts that Ms. Roome was unable to
meet certain physical requirements duringthaning at the Academy in 2012. But, according
to Ms. Roome, instructors did not expect recrtotpass every requirement. Instead, instructors
were looking for recruits to show improvememid effort. Ms. Roome completed the program
and was allowed to graduate even thoughdsth@ot meet the required run times.

DCSO'’s Treatment of Russell Brooks

DCSO Deputy Russell Brookdtended the Academy in 2016. During his training, he
sustained a knee injury. DeguBrooks was placed on work restrictions and was unable to
complete the Academy. As of July 2017, Deputy Brooks’s Academy training was on hold
subject to him completing the scenario portionhaf Academy successfully in November. In
2017, Deputy Brooks entered the Academy agBiat he injured his other knee, again
preventing him from finishing the Academy.c@ording to Sheriff McGovern, Deputy Brooks is
scheduled to complete the portions of the Asrad that he has not yet completed in 2018.
Deputy Brooks holds himself out as a heterosexual male.

Plaintiffs Complaints about Sergeant Moffitt

As already described, plaintiff testified that he never reported Sergeant Moffitt’'s conduct
to anyone in the DCSO or ugj the Douglas County personnelipglmechanism. Later in his
deposition though, plaintiff testéfd that he complained ©@CSO Lieutenant Blake McCall
during his evaluation on November 2, 2015, abosihistory with Sergeant McCall (including

his offensive comments and how he treatedinpff during officer survival week).
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Lieutenant McCall testified that, on Noveert2, 2015, he met with plaintiff to discuss
his evaluation because Lieutenant McCall previotslg served as plaintiff's supervisor. But at
the time of the meeting, both Lieutenant Mc@ait plaintiff were on diierent assignments.
Lieutenant McCall told plaintiff that he likedorking with him, and he commented that, if
plaintiff was assigned to pal, he could be assigned to Liengat McCall’s shift. Plaintiff told
Lieutenant McCall that he didn’t think he cdulork on his shift becae Sergeant Moffitt also
was assigned to that shift. Plaintiff toldeitenant McCall that he did not get along with
Sergeant Moffitt. He said that Sergeant Moffitt treated him differently and picked on him.
Lieutenant McCall did not report plaintiff's ouments to anyone because, when plaintiff made
them, he was no longer phaiff's supervisor.

Sergeant Freeman’s Comments

Before plaintiff attended the Academy, DCS@rgeant Freeman alswade disparaging
comments to plaintiff about his masculinity. tdd plaintiff that he was going to start
“manning [him] up.” Doc. 69-2 (Appleby Dep. 97:10-21). And after plaintiff attended a
Britney Spears concert, Sergeant Freemanhiohd “That girly shit’s not going to happen on
my shift.” 1d.

On September 12, 2017—almost two years git@intiff’'s removal from the Academy
and demotion to Corrections Officer—plaintifisdbvered a drawing of a muscular male figure
on a dry erase board in a common area of thE@CWritten next to the figure was the word,
“GHEYY.” Plaintiff understands this word tmean an intentional misspelling of “gay.”

Plaintiff found the drawing offemge and took a photograph of it.
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DCSO'’s Personnel Policy

In March 2015, Douglas County implemente&ersonnel Policy. This policy governed
plaintiff's employment with te DCSO. Plaintiff testified #t he received a copy of the
Personnel Policy in March 2015, looked through it, tied to familiarize himself with it. But
he did not memorize it. Plaintiff knew thathé had questions about the Personnel Policy, he
could ask about its meaning. The Personnel Yalidudes a statement of non-discrimination.
It provides that the County @hibits discrimination, sexual harassnt, and retaliation. Plaintiff
is certain that he read the non-discriminati@iesnent. He knew that the County prohibits
discrimination, sexual harassmesud retaliation. Plaintiff alsknew, as a County and DCSO
employee, he could reportsdrimination at any time.

Also, in June 2006, plaintiff received asigned an acknowledgement that he had
received the “Douglas County Harassment-Rekplace Policy.” The Personnel Policy also
includes the Harassment-Free Work Place Rol&nd, in October 2011, plaintiff signed the
DCSO'’s “Productive Work Environment Advisory.” Doc. 60-14. The Advisory asks the
following question: “Are you aware of the DoaglCounty Sheriff's Gice strong commitment
to a productive work place absolutely free ny #orm of sexual harassment or discrimination,
racial harassment or discrimination, or alger similar social psonal or professional
coercion?”Id. at 1. Plaintiff checked the “yes” b@nd wrote “yes” under the comments
section of the formld.

Il. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is apppriate if the moving paytdemonstrates that “rgenuine

dispute” exists about “any matafifact” and that it is “entitletb a judgment as a matterlafv.”

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). When it applies thenstard, the court views the evidence and draws

22



inferences in the light most\farable to the non-moving partifNahno-Lopez v. House825
F.3d 1279, 1283 (10th Cir. 2010). “An issue of facgenuine’ ‘if the evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdimt the non-moving party’ on the issueld. (quoting
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). “Asdue of fact is ‘material’ ‘if
under the substantive law it is essential to the proggodition of the claim’ or defenseld.
(quotingAdler v. Wal-Mart Stores, Incl44 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998)).

The moving party bears “both the initial den of production on a motion for summary
judgment and the burden of establishing that surpoagment is appropriate as a matter of
law.” Kannady v. City of Kiowa90 F.3d 1161, 1169 (10th Cir. 2010) (citifginor v. Apollo
Metal Specialties, Inc318 F.3d 976, 979 (10th Cir. 2002)). To mtbét burden, the moving
party “need not negate the non-movant’s claim,ragd only point to aabsence of evidence to
support the non-movant’s claimld. (citing Sigmon v. CommunityCare HMO, In234 F.3d
1121, 1125 (10th Cir. 2000)).

If the moving party satisfiess initial burden, the non-movinggarty “may not rest on its
pleadings, but must bring forward specific fagt®wing a genuine isster trial [on] those
dispositive matters for which darries the burdeof proof.” Id. (quotingJenkins v. Woqd1
F.3d 988, 990 (10th Cir. 1996g¢cord Celotex Corp. v. Catre#t77 U.S. 317, 324 (1986);
Anderson477 U.S. at 248-49. “To accomplish this, the facts must be identified by reference to
affidavits, deposition trangpts, or specific exhibits incorporated thereirtller, 144 F.3d at
670 (citingThomas v. Wichita Coca-Cola Bottling C868 F.2d 1022, 1024 (10th Cir. 1992)).

Summary judgment is net“disfavored procedurahortcut.” Celotex 477 U.S. at 327.
Instead, it is an important procedure “desijfte secure the just, speedy and inexpensive

determination of every action.’Id. (quoting Fed. RCiv. P. 1).
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[I. Analysis

Defendant seeks summary judgment against diopiaintiff's claims. In its summary
judgment motion, defendant assertgesal arguments. First, defdant argues that the Board of
County Commissioners of Douglas County, Kansas is not the appragefatedant because it
was not responsible for changing plaintiff's emphent status. Secordgfendant asserts that
plaintiff's Title VII claim fails as a matter daw because no reasonable jury could conclude
from the undisputed summary judgment facts tledéndant discriminateayainst plaintiff based
on gender stereotyping. Finally,fdedant asserts that plaintgfstate law retaliatory demotion
claim fails as a matter of law, or alternativelye ttourt should decline &xercise supplemental
jurisdiction over that claim. The cowtidresses each argument in turn, below.

A. Has Plaintiff Asserted a Viable Claim against the Board?

Defendant contends that the Board ou@ty Commissioners of Douglas County, Kansas
is not a proper defendant because a county lafasdmmissioners has no responsibility over a
sheriff's department and, thusp vicarious liability for a shéf's employment practicesSee
Blume v. Meneley®83 F. Supp. 2d 1171, 1175 (D. Kan. 2008yrguia, J.) (holding that the
county was the proper party defendant—notcihenty board of comrssioners—because, under
Kansas law, the board “clearlyddnot have oversight over the actiafgthe county sheriff]”).

But, in a more recent case, Judge Murguia recognized thanéfptdeliberately had
named a board of county commissioners as a defendant in “an attempt to comply with Kan. Stat.
Ann. 8 19-105, which provides thdt suits against a county shoud& brought against the Board
of County Commissioners.Vaughan v. Ellis CtyNo. 13-2283-CM, 2014 WL 910125, at *2
(D. Kan. Mar. 10, 2014 xee alsdan. Stat. Ann. 8 19-105 (“In all suits or proceedings by or

against a county, the name in whithe county shall sue or be swgthll be ‘The board of county
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commissioners of the county of [.]")-Veughan plaintiff alleged that Ellis

County was his employer and thitalhad violated the Americanwith Disabilities Act.ld. But,
instead of naming the county as a defendantpfanamed the board of county commissioners
to comply with Kan. Stat. Ann. § 19-10%. Judge Murguia held: “In light of Kan. Stat. Ann.
§ 19-105 . . . plaintiff has properly named deferidalis County and itRepresentatives, the
Board of County Commissioners of Ellis Couritythis lawsuit” because “plaintiff [did not
have] any other option, as he must ndmseemployer under the ADA—not an individual
defendant.”ld.

Similarly here, plaintiff assestthat defendant is his employeDoc. 55 at 7 (Pretrial
Order 1 3.a.). And he claims that the DC8@ated Title VII andKansas public policy by
removing him from the Academy andrdeting him from the Deputy positiorid. at 16 (Pretrial
Order 1 4.a.). Because plaintiff must nameehiployer as a defendant in a Title VII law$uit
and the Kansas statute directs him to suddaed of county commissiners in any suit brought
against a county, the court cdubes that plaintiff properljpas named the Board of County
Commissioners of Douglas County, i&as as a defendant in thisvauit. The court denies this
portion of defendant’s sumamy judgment motion.

B. Plaintiff's Title V 1l Demotion Claim

Defendant next asserts thaaipltiff's Title VII claim fails as a matter of law because the
undisputed summary judgment fagiresent no triable issue whetdefendant removed plaintiff
from the Academy and demoted him from the Deputy position based on sex discrimination.

Plaintiff asserts that dendant violated Title VII by “subjedtjg him] to sex stereotyping due to

! Title VII prohibits an “employer” from discrimating against an individual “with respect to his

compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of empkent, because of such individual's . . . sex.” 42
U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(13ee also Haynes v. Willian83 F.3d 898, 901 (10th Ct996) (holding that Title
VII “statutory liability is appropriately borne by employers, not individual supervisors”).
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his perceived failure to conforton stereotypical gender normsDoc. 55 at 16 (Pretrial Order
4.a.). More specifically, his Complaint allegeatttPlaintiff was perceied by Defendant to be
insufficiently masculine in his actions accordiogDefendant’s perception of masculinity and
established gender roles.” Ddcat 8 (Compl. 1 55). As a rdsplaintiff alleges, defendant
“treated [him] unfavorably, and less favorably than one or more similarly situated females
employed by Defendant, and said unfavoraldatinent was based on plaintiff's sex, malkl’”
(Compl. 1 57).

A plaintiff may assert a Title VII claim faunlawful gender stereotyping based on an
employer’s discrimination “against [the plaffitbased on [his] failure to confirm to
stereotypical gender normsPotter v. Synerlink Corp562 F. App’x 665, 674 (10th Cir. 2014)
(first citing Price Waterhouse v. Hopking90 U.S. 228, 250 (198%uperseded on other
grounds by statutet2 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(mgs recognized in Buage v. United State§71 U.S.
204, 213 n.4 (2014); then citirigsitty v. Utah Transit Auth502 F.3d 1215, 1223 (10th Cir.
2007)). See also Etsittyp02 F.3d at 1224 (assuming, without déwg, that plainff could assert
a Title VII claim based on gender stereotypingdetlining to decide whether “discrimination
based on an employee’s failure to conform to sex stereotypes always constitutes discrimination

‘because of sex™ and “whether such a claimyreatend Title VII protection to transsexuals who
act and appear as a member of the opposite sex”).

With no direct evidence of discrimination, tbeurt applies the theestep burden-shifting
framework established byicDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greeall U.S. 792 (1973)Khalik v.
United Air Lines 671 F.3d 1188, 1192 (10th Cir. 2012) (cit@gpwe v. ADT Sec. Servs., Inc.
649 F.3d 1189, 1194 (10th Cir. 2011)). First, thenpitiimust establish a prima facie case of

discrimination. Id. This requires a showing that: “(1) [he]a member of a protected class, (2)
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[he] suffered an adverse employment action[t{&) qualified for the position at issue, and (4)
[he] was treated less favorably thahers not in the protected clasdd. (citing Sanchez v.
Denver Pub. Sch164 F.3d 527, 531 (10th Cir. 1998&e also DePaula v. Easter Seals El
Mirador, 859 F.3d 957, 969 (10th Cir. 2018wackhammer v. Sprint/United Mgmt. G923
F.3d 1160, 1166 & n.8 (10th Cir. 2007).
Next, if plaintiff satisfies this primaatie burden, the burden shifts to defendant to
articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatasason for the adverse employment actiGnowe
649 F.3d at 1195. And, last, where defendant sagigfiaintiff’s burden, the burden shifts back
to plaintiff to show that dendant’s proffered reasons fitg actions are pretextuald. (citing
Young v. Dillon Cos468 F.3d 1243, 1249 (10th Cir. 2006)).
1. Prima Facia Case

Defendant asserts that plaintiff fails tdaddish a prima facie case of discrimination
because the summary judgment facts establighatie issue whether plaintiff was qualified for
the Deputy position. Indeed, thadisputed facts establish that the DCSO’s promotion of
plaintiff to the Deputy positiowas contingent upon plaintifiompleting the Academy. During
plaintiff's attendance at the Academy, manstructors (mostly employed by the Lawrence
Police Department, not the DCSO) observed gféi;performance and found it deficient. The
instructors have cited multiple, specific exampleplaintiff's failure to perform in the scenario
training and to meet the physical requirementtheftraining. Based on their observations, the
instructors uniformly concludedahplaintiff was a danger torhself, other officers, and the
public. The instructors reportedeih concerns about plaintiff t8heriff McGovern. And, based

on that information, Sheriff McGovern made thexision that plaintifshould not complete the
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Academy. Instead, Sheriff McGovern decidedemove plaintiff from the Deputy position and
return him to his former Corrections Officer position.

Plaintiff's Opposition to defendant’s summanggment motion never argues explicitly
that he was qualified for the jolBut it does assert plaintiff's siwdgjtive belief that other recruits
made similar mistakes to the ones he madmguhe Academy yet the other recruits were
allowed to graduate from the Academy. Eveplaintiff could make out a prima facie case of
discrimination on this summary judgment record, the court concludes beb his Title VII
claim cannot survive summary judgment becausautidisputed facts faib present a triable
issue whether defendant’s decision to dema@pff from the Deputyposition was pretextual.
The court thus assumes, without deciding, thanhpfhas satisfied his prima facie burden.

2. Legitimate, Non-Discriminatory Reason

Next, the burden shifts to defendant tocarlate a legitimate, nodiscriminatory reason
for plaintiff's removal from the Academy amgmotion from the Deputy position. To meet its
burden under the second step of the burdenksipiftamework, “defendant need only ‘explain
its actions against the plaintiff in terms tlaa¢ not facially prohibited by Title VII.””Jones v.
Denver Post Corp203 F.3d 748, 753 (10th Cir. 2000) (quotligOC v. Flasher C9986 F.2d
1312, 1317 (10th Cir. 1992)). The undisputeddastablish that Sheriff McGovern based his
decision to remove plaintiff from the Acadgmand Deputy position on safety issues and his
belief that plaintiff lacked the required skillo protect himselfral others. Defendant’s
proffered reason satisfies its burden under thersk step of the burden-shifting frame work.

3. Pretext
The burden thus shifts back to plaintiff, reug him to establish a genuine issue for trial

whether defendant’s articulated reasvas pretext for discriminatiorbePaula v. Easter Seals
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El Mirador, 859 F.3d 957, 970 (10th Cir. 2017). phaintiff may show pretext by
demonstrating the ‘proffered reason is factutdlge,’ or that ‘discrimination was a primary
factor in the employer’s decision.’Id. (citations omitted). A plaintiff can satisfy this burden
“by revealing weaknesses, implabiities, inconsistencies, incolences, or contradictions in
the employer’s proffered reason, such thaasonable fact finder could deem the employer’s
reason unworthy of credence.ld. (citing Tabor v. Hilti, Inc, 703 F.3d 1206, 1216 (10th Cir.
2013)).

Here, plaintiff points to several facts thiag contends, establish pretext. The court
disagreesFirst, plaintiff cannot show pretext bysserting his subjective belief that he
performed successfully—or adst as well as other recruitsluring the Academy. The Tenth
Circuit has cautioned courtsat they “may not second gagethe business judgment of the
employer.” Id. (citing Dewitt v. Sw. Bell Tel. Co845 F.3d 1299, 1307 (10th Cir. 201%¢g
also Jaramillo v. Colo. Judicial Dep'#27 F.3d 1303, 1308 (10th Cir. 2005) (“The courts may
not act as a super personnel departmentst@ind guesses employers’ business judgments.”
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted)). “In determining whether the proffered reason
for a decision was pretextual, [the court] exaefs] the facts as they appear to the person
making the decision,” and “‘do not look todlplaintiff's subjective evaluation of the
situation.” Id. (quotingEEOC v. C.R. Englané44 F.3d 1028, 1044 (10th Cir. 2011)).
“Instead of asking whether the employer’s reasarere wise, fair ocorrect,” the relevant
inquiry is whether the employer ‘honestly lesied those reasons and acted in good faith upon
those beliefs.”” Id. (quotingSwackhamme#r93 F.3d at 1170).

Here, the decisionmaker—Sheriff McGomerreceived several reports from Lawrence

Police Department officers that plaintiff's penmance at the Academy was deficient and posed
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a danger to himself, other officers, and the publibese instructors testified that they based
their opinions about plaintiff’'s performance dglen their observations during the Academy.
Many of the officers testified that plaintiff's sexual orientation playedoi®in their reports,

and several officers testified thaey never even knew plaintiff gay. Also, McGovern did not
know plaintiff's sexual orientation until he filedishawsuit. Thus, Sheriff McGovern could not
have based his decision on pldifgifailure to conform to steotypical gender norms. Instead,
as the undisputed facts establish, Sheriff Mc@obwased his decision @afety issues and his
belief that plaintiff lacked the requirestills to protect himself and others.

Secondplaintiff asserts that a reasonable joould infer pretext based on the Special
Reports that Lawrence Police Dejpaent officers completed aftptaintiff's demotion. Plaintiff
argues that the Lawrence Police Departméiitars completed no such reports for any other
recruit at the Academy. The court disagreElse undisputed summanydgment facts establish
that the instructors found plaifi's performance deficient dhe Academy. The instructors
testified about specific exampledere plaintiff failed both to et physical requirements and to
perform successfully in scenario training. Th&ructors’ testimony is consistent with the
observations they documented in their Officere8al Reports. Some instructors testified that
they did not recall any béer recruits having performance issuike plaintiff showed. And the
summary judgment facts reveal no othemruits at the Acadeyrwho displayed poor
performance similar to plaintiff. Also, the insttors testified that no one told them to write
negative reports about plaintifinstead, the instructors testified that their reports were based on
their observations of plaintiff's performancetia¢ Academy and their conclusions that his

performance was poor.
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Also, plaintiff cannot establispretext based on timing of theports. His assertion that
the reports establish pretextgdgnder stereotyping discrimii@n simply because the officers
created them after his demotion is pure speanratAnd plaintiff can’t establish pretext based
on mere speculationSee Lounds v. Lincare, In&12 F.3d 1208, 1237-38 (10th Cir. 2015)
(affirming summary judgment against plaint#fTitle VII retaliation claim because plaintiff
“merely advanced speculative theori¢isit failed to demonstrate pretedage also Webster v.
Shulkin 707 F. App’x 535, 542 (10th Cir. 2017) (holditimat plaintiff's “claims don’t rise above
the level of speculation, which is insuifent to demonstrate pretext”).

Third, plaintiff asserts that hean establish pretext with evidence that defendant treated
two similarly-situated females more favorably thiaimeated him. The eot disagrees that these
two women were similarly situated plaintiff. Plantiff first identifies LeRonda Roome. Ms.
Roome was allowed to graduate from the Agrag even though she did not meet the required
run times. But the summary judgment recooditains no evidence that Ms. Roome had
performance issues similar to plaintiff's-e, failing to meet the physical requiremeatsd
performing poorly in the scenarios. Thus, sikenmary judgment facts, even when viewed in
plaintiff's favor, won't create a genuine isswbether Ms. Roome is similarly-situated to
plaintiff.

Plaintiff next identifies KatidBenton as a similarlydsiated woman who defendant
treated more favorably than him. But Ms. Bentestified that instructors treated her the same
way that plaintiff alleges they treated him. Sh&l she thought the imsttors were “extra hard”
on her because, she thought, they wanted to make sure that she was “strong enough to get
through.” Doc. 60-22 at 8 (Benton Dep. 34:13—-352e also testified &t the instructors put

the recruits under increased stress and physitgitpcuring officer surwal week and that
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they yelled a lot at the recruits during thisek. Unlike plaintiff, Ms. Benton completed and
graduated from the Academy. But the summadgment record contains no evidence that she
had performance problems similar to plaintiff€hus, the summaryggment facts present no
triable issue whether Ms. Bentonsvsimilarly situated to plaiiff. Consequently, plaintiff
cannot show pretext based on defendant’s tredtofasither Ms. Benton or Ms. Roome.

Fourth, plaintiff contends that defendanti®atment of Deputy Russell Brooks
(compared to how it treated him) shows pretdeputy Brooks is a heterosexual man who
attended the Academy in 2016 and 2017. Both times, Deputy Brooks sustained knee injuries and
was unable to complete the Academy. Deputy Brooks is scheduled to complete the portions of
the Academy that he has not yet completedndu?i018. Plaintiff asserthat defendant has
treated Deputy Brooks more favorably than it edatim because it never has demoted him from
the Deputy position and has givkeim additional chances to complete the Academy training.
But the summary judgment facts viewed in piifits favor don’t presena triable issue whether
Deputy Brooks is similarly-situat to plaintiff. The summary judgment record contains no
evidence showing that Deputy Brooks had penfmce problems at the Academy similar to
plaintiff's. Instead, Deputy Brooks’s knee injurig® the only reason that he could not complete
the Academy. In contrast, defendant removethgff from the Academ because it determined
that plaintiff posed a safety issue and he ladkedskills necessary to work as a Deputy.

Finally, plaintiff cannot establish pretext bdsen offensive comments made by Sergeant
Moffitt, Sergeant Freeman, and others. Importantly, plaintiff limits his Title VII claim to
disparate treatment that, he atsadefendant subjected himdaring the Academy. Doc. 55 at
16 (Pretrial Order 4.a.). Plaifftdoes not assert a hostile wagkvironment or harassment claim

based on the alleged offensive comments. And, gvendid, an employer may avoid vicarious
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liability through “an #firmative defense—th&aragherdefense—by showing that the employer
‘exercised reasonable care to avoid harassmertbagltninate it when it might occur,” and that
the complaining employee ‘failed to act witke reasonable care to take advantage of the
employer’s safeguards.’Debord v. Mercy Health Sys. of Kai37 F.3d 642, 650 (10th Cir.
2013) (quotingaragher v. City of Boca Ratph24 U.S. 775, 805 (1998)).

The summary judgment facts establish the fireng of this test. DCSO had written
policies prohibiting sexual discrimination anddssment. Plaintiff received these policies and
knew that they governed his employment. The summary judgmesitaiaotestablish the
second prong. Plaintiff concedes that he neveeplained about Sergeant Moffitt's conduct to
anyone in the DCSO and that he never used the Douglas County personnel policy mechanism.
He also never complained about Sergeant Moffttbsiments, or asserted that they were the
reason for his demotion during the grievance ngarinstead, plaintiff gued at the grievance
hearing that his performance at the Academy adesjuate. But, later plaintiff’'s deposition,
he testified that he complained to DCS@tutienant Blake McCall about Sergeant Moffit's
conduct during his evaluation on November 2, 20R6t, when plaintiff made the complaint,
Lieutenant McCall was not pldiff's supervisor, and thus, he did not report plaintiff's
comments to anyone else.

Plaintiff also asserts thae never complained about Sergeant Moffitt because, he
contends, the DCSO threaterteth with termination in 2010 whelme made a complaint about
smelling marijuana on a supervisor. But thenmary judgment facts ddrsupport plaintiff's
description of this inv&igation as involving any “threably the DCSO. Instead, the summary
judgment record, viewed in plaintiff's favor, elslishes that DCSO initiated an Internal Affairs

Investigation after someone complained aboutpessisor smelling of marijuana. Investigators
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who interviewed Katie Benson about the complanovided a Garrity warning, explaining that
she would lose her job if she didt tell the truth or cooperatativthe investigation. When the
investigation ended, UndershiéMassey spoke with Ms. Bent@nd others about stopping the
spread of rumors and using the chain ahomand to report problena the Douglas County
Correctional Facility. According to Ms. Bemt's testimony, the DCS@xpressly encouraged
the reporting of complaints butandated the use of the appiaf@ chain of command. Also,
plaintiff asserts that Sergeavipffitt treated him poorly thraghout his employment with the
DCSO which began in 2006. Bugtinternal Affairs Investigationccurred in 2010. So, even if
plaintiff felt that he could not complaibaut Sergeant Moffitt after the 2010 investigation,
plaintiff fails to explain why he neverperted Sergeant Moffitt'sonduct earlier in his
employment.

Sergeant Moffitt’'s comments also cannatate a triable issue of pretext allowing
plaintiff's Title VII discriminatory demotion @im to survive summary judgment. Plaintiff
never alleges that Sergeantfftbremoved him from the Academgy that he had any input to
the decision to demote him from the Deputy posi And the summary judgment facts, viewed
in plaintiff’'s favor, establish thahstructors yelled at all redte—not just plaintiff—especially
during officer survival week. So, Sergeantffitts comments cannot create a triable issue
whether defendant’s decision to removaiptiff from the Academy was pretext.

The summary judgment facts also faiktwow any connection between plaintiff’s
demotion from the Deputy position and Sergdaeeman’s comments, or the masculine
drawing that plaintiff found oa dry erase board in a DCSOnhumon area. Plaintiff identified
two comments that Sergeant Freeman made di@utasculinity before he attended the

Academy. Butthe summary judgment factsklsh no connection between these comments

34



and plaintiff’'s removal from the Academy. Naoth in the summary judgment record shows that
Sergeant Freeman had any involvement wighAbademy, or with th decision to remove

plaintiff from that training and demote hinofn the Deputy position. And plaintiff found the
drawing in 2017—almost two years after hisnddion. So, it cannot support a triable issue
whether defendant’s decision in 2015 to remphaéntiff from the Academy was pretext.

For all these reasons, the court concludestiieasummary judgment facts, even when
viewed in plaintiff's favor, present no triagbissue whether defendant’s decision to remove
plaintiff from the Academy and demotarhirom the Deputy position was pretext for
discrimination based on plaintiff'failure to conform to gender stereotypes. The court thus
grants summary judgment against plaintiff's Title VII claim.

C. Plaintiff's Retaliatory Demotion Claim

Last, plaintiff's second cause of action atsa claim under Kansas state law. He
contends that defendant removed him ftbm Academy and demoted him from the Deputy
position as retaliation for susténg a worker’s compensation imyuin violation of Kansas
public policy. But, because the court has disndgsaintiff's federal Tile VII claim above, the
court may decline to exercise supplementasgliction over plaintiffs remaining state law
claim. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3)The district courts may dkge to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction [when] the districtourt has dismissed all claims over which it has original
jurisdiction.”).

The decision whether to exercise supplemental jurisdiction is committed to a district
court’s sound discretionExum v. U.S. Olympic Comn389 F.3d 1130, 1138-39 (10th Cir.
2004). Indeed, the Tenth Circuit has expressegbtaference that district courts decline

jurisdiction over state & claims once it dismisses all federal claingee Smith v. City of Enid
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ex rel. Enid City Comm’nl49 F.3d 1151, 1156 (10th Cir. 1998) (“When all federal claims have
been dismissed, the court maynd usually shoulddecline to exercisgirisdiction over any
remaining state claims.” (emphasis added))e $hpreme Court has dited district courts,

when deciding whether to maintain jurisdiction ostate law claims, toonsider “the values of
judicial economy, convenience, fairness, and comity . Cafnegie-Mellon Univ. v. Cohijl484
U.S. 343, 350 (1988)See also Wittner v. Banner Heal#20 F.3d 770, 781 (10th Cir. 2013)
(“[W]e have said the court should consider itay state claims whe given the nature and
extent of pretrial proceedings, judicial econgmonvenience, and fairness would be served by
retaining jurisdiction.” (citation anohternal quotation marks omitted)).

Here, the court has dismissed the only fablelaim which this court had original
jurisdiction to decide. Exercising its discmetj the court declines to assert supplemental
jurisdiction over plaintiff's statéaw claim. The factors aboveviar this result. Dismissal of
plaintiff's state law claim withouprejudice will not waste judial resources because discovery
is complete and the case is ready for a sumuaigment ruling by a Kansas court on the claim
arising under Kansas law.

This result is not unfair for the plaintiffTitle 28 section 1367 tolls the statute of
limitations for state law claims while they arendeng in federal court anfdr 30 days after they
are dismissed “unless State law providesaftonger tolling period.”28 U.S.C. § 1367(dkee
also Brooks v. Gaenzlé14 F.3d 1213, 1230 (10th Cir. 2010). nsas’s “saving statute” affords
a plaintiff six months to commence a new acifamprevious timely action failed “otherwise
than upon the merits.” Kan. Stat. Ann. 8 60-5A8dismissal “otherwise than upon the merits”

includes a dismissal without prejudicRogers v. Williams, Laos, Voss, Strobel & Esteg77
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P.2d 836, 839 (Kan. 1989). So, nothing preventsilafrom refiling his state law claim in
Kansas court, as long as he timely files thaim under the Kansas savings statute.

The Kansas state courts also provide tmeeskevel of convenience and fairness as the
federal courts. And, importantly, comity stropdvors remand. Kansas state courts have a
strong interest in decidg matters involving purglstate law claims—lik@laintiff's retaliatory
demotion claim asserted herBrooks 614 F.3d at 1230 (“[N]otionsf comity and federalism
demand that a state court try its own lawsaibsent compelling reasons to the contrary.”)
(quotingBall v. Renner54 F.3d 664, 669 (10th Cir. 1995Because all the factors favor
remand and there is no compelling reason t@wtmgrary, the court adines to exercise
supplemental jurisdiction over plaifits remaining state law claim.

IV.  Conclusion

For the reasons explained above, the togtants defendant®lotion for Summary
Judgment (Doc. 58) in part and denies pamt. The undisputed summary judgment facts,
viewed in plaintiff's favor, present no trigbissue whether defendatiscriminated against
plaintiff based on his sex in violation of Title VII. The court thus dismisses plaintiff's Title VII
claim. The court declines to exercise supm@stal jurisdiction over platiff's remaining state
law claim. It thus dismissesithout prejudice plaintiff's statlaw retaliatory demotion claim.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT defendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment (Doc. 58)gsanted in part and deniedpart. The court dismisses
plaintiff's federal Title VII clam with prejudice. The court dines to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction over plaintiff's stte law claim and dismissesthlaim without prejudice.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
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Dated this 2nd day of August, 2018, at Topeka, Kansas.

s/ Daniel D. Crabtree
Daniel D. Crabtree
United States District Judge
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